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Pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) and the Federal 

Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. §1 et seq., Defendants Tenet Healthcare 

Corporation (“Tenet”), VHS, Inc., VHS of Michigan, Inc, d/b/a Detroit Medical 

Center, VHS Harper-Hutzel Hospital, Inc., VHS Sinai-Grace Hospital, Inc., 

(collectively “DMC” and/or “DMC/Tenet” Defendants); Dr. Anthony Tedeschi, 

President of VHS of Michigan and CEO of DMC; Scott Steiner, CEO of Harper 

University Hospital, Detroit Receiving Hospital, and Hutzel Hospital; Eric Evans, 

President of Tenet Hospital Operations; and Conrad Mallet, CEO Sinai-Grace 

Hospital (collectively “Individual Defendants”), appearing specially and without 

wavier of any defenses, respectfully move this Court to dismiss this action and to 

compel the Plaintiffs to arbitrate their claims consistent with the clear provisions of 

their commercial service agreements. 

In support of their motion, Defendants rely on the facts, law and legal 

arguments set forth in the attached brief and exhibits. 

Pursuant to E.D. Mich. LR 7.1(a), Defendants’ counsel attempted to obtain, 

prior to filing this Motion, Plaintiffs’ concurrence in the relief sought, but such 

concurrence was not forthcoming. 
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Respectfully submitted, 

 

OGLETREE, DEAKINS, NASH, 

SMOAK & STEWART, PLLC 

 

s/ Thomas R. Paxton    

THOMAS R. PAXTON (P36214) 

SHARON RAE GROSS (P42514) 

Attorneys for Defendants 

34977 Woodward Avenue, Suite 300 

Birmingham, MI 48009 

(248) 593-6400 

thomas.paxton@ogletree.com 

rae.gross@ogletree.com 

Dated: April 17, 2019 
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CONCISE STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED 

Whether the claims brought by Plaintiffs in this lawsuit, all of which relate 

to or arise out of their professional service agreements with Defendants and/or 

termination thereof, should be submitted to arbitration where Plaintiffs entered into 

a written contract agreeing to resolve such disputes through arbitration. 
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I. INTRODUCTION 
 

Plaintiffs Amir Kaki and Mahir Elder are physicians and members of 

corporate medical practice groups, which contracted to provide services to certain 

of the Defendant DMC hospitals.  In those agreements, the Plaintiffs agreed to 

arbitrate claims arising out of or relating to their provision of the professional 

services.  In the instant complaint, Plaintiffs allege retaliatory termination of their 

“leadership positions”1 in violation of the False Claims Act, 31 U.S.C. § 3730 

(“FCA”); retaliatory termination of their positions in violation of the Michigan 

Medicaid False Claims Act, M.C.L. § 400.610c; retaliatory discharge from their 

positions in violation of Michigan public policy; violations of the Fair Labor 

Standards Act (“FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.; a purportedly false light 

publication that termination of their positions was due to their misconduct; and a 

violation (as to Plaintiff Kaki only) of the Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to 

Know Act, M.C.L. § 423.501, et seq.  The “positions” from which Plaintiffs were 

terminated and which underpin and are an essential component of each of their 

claims, were positions they occupied pursuant to written agreements.  These claims 

should be adjudicated by arbitration. 2 

                                                 
1  Complaint ¶ 24. 
2  These defenses are preserved as the Court’s primary responsibility is to 

expeditiously decide the arbitrability of the Plaintiffs’ claims.  See Howard v. 

Ferrellgas Partners, L.P., 748 F.3d 975, 978 (10th Cir. 2014), Silfee v. Automatic 

Data Processing, Inc., 696 Fed. Appx. 576, 577-79 (3rd Cir. 2017), Reyna v. Int’l 
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II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 
 

A. Plaintiffs’ Directorship Positions and Cardio Team One 

Agreements 

 

Amir Kaki, M.D. is a physician and President of a professional service 

corporation, “Amir Kaki, M.D. P.C.”  (Exhibit A).  Dr. Mahir Elder is a physician 

and President of (among others) a professional services corporation, “Mahir D. 

Elder M.D. P.C.”  (Exhibit B). 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that Dr. Kaki was appointed as Director of the 

Cardiac Catherization Services Unit at VHS Harper-Hutzel Hospital.  (Complaint 

¶16).3  The Directorship Agreement, pursuant to which that appointment was 

made, is an agreement between DMC Defendant VHS Harper-Hutzel Hospital and 

Amir Kaki M.D. P.C.  (Exhibit C).  Similarly, Dr. Elder’s appointments to Director 

positions relative to the Cardiac Care Unit and Endovascular Medicine (Complaint 

¶16) were made pursuant to Directorship Agreements between the DMC 

Defendant Hospitals and Mahir Elder M.D. P.C.  (Exhibit D).   

Plaintiffs agreed in their respective Directorship Agreements that their 

professional limited liability company groups, and they as individuals, were 

                                                                                                                                                             

Bank of Commerce, 839 F.3d 373, 376-78 (5th Cir. 2016), Dean Witter Constr. 

Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 22 (1983) (FAA requires “an expeditious and summary hearing, 

with only restricted inquiry into factual issues”), Tassy v. Lindsay Entm’t 

Enterprises, Inc., 2018 WL 1582226, at *1 (6th Cir. Feb. 22, 2018). 
3  VHS (Vanguard Health Systems) is the predecessor of Defendant Tenet, having 

been acquired by Tenet in 2013.   
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“independent contractors” and not employees or agents of the DMC/Tenet 

Defendants.  (Exhibits C and D, ¶ 2).  Plaintiffs also agreed to a mutually binding 

arbitration provision, which provides in pertinent part that:  

Any dispute or controversy arising under, out of or in connection 

with, or in relation to this Agreement, or any amendment hereof, or 

the breach hereof shall be determined and settled by final and binding 

arbitration in the county in which the Hospital is located in 

accordance with the Commercial Rules of Arbitration (“Rules”) of the 

Judicial Arbitration and Mediation Services (“JAMS”) before one 

arbitrator applying the laws of the State. 

 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint further alleges that Defendants have continued to 

retaliate against them in their ongoing roles as on-call Cardio Team One (“CTO”) 

cardiologists, including alleged withholding of “wages” due Dr. Kaki for CTO 

services and refusing to include Plaintiffs on the CTO call schedule.  (Complaint 

¶¶ 84, 86, 95).  These claims arise under, or in connection with, or relation to, 

Agreements between the DMC Defendants and Plaintiffs’ professional limited 

liability company groups, to provide clinical services for the DMC Cardiovascular 

Institute’s Cardio Team One.  These agreements contain arbitration clauses 

identical to the Directorship Agreements above.  (Exhibits E and F, ¶ 11). 

B. Events Giving Rise to Plaintiffs’ Claims 

 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges that, “On October 1, 2018, Dr. Kaki and Dr. 

Elder were publicly terminated by Defendants from their leadership positions.”  

(¶24).  Plaintiffs assert that “no reason for the terminations was specified” and 
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proceed in Count I (False Claims Act), Count II (Michigan Medicaid False Claims 

Act) and Count IV (Michigan Public Policy) to variously claim that their positions 

were terminated as a result of their purportedly reporting various suspected health 

care false claims, unclean surgical instruments, and unnecessary procedures.   

In fact, Plaintiffs were notified in writing, on October 1, 2018, that the 

reason for the termination of their Directorship Agreements was their failure to 

comply with Tenet’s standards of conduct.4  (Exhibits G and H).  By way of 

background, Defendants Tenet and DMC maintain policies and procedures 

designed to maximize the quality of professional services and care to their patients.  

Included in those policies is the “Tenet Standards of Conduct” (“Standards”) 

(Exhibit I), Plaintiffs incorporated the Standards in their Directorship Agreements 

and specifically agreed to adopt and model behavior the DMC/Tenet’s core values 

of quality, integrity, service, innovation and transparency described in the 

Standards.5  Plaintiffs agreed that the hospital could terminate their agreements if 

Defendants deemed, in their sole discretion, that Plaintiffs engaged in behavior, 

which affected the quality of professional care or performance of duties required or 

prejudiced the best interests of the Defendant.  (Exhibits C and D, ¶ 1d and ¶ 4c). 

                                                 
4  The CTO agreements were not terminated but lapsed on their own terms. 
5 Any factual dispute between the parties regarding the reasons for Defendant 

DMC/Tenet’s termination of Plaintiffs’ contracts is immaterial to the instant 

determination regarding the enforceability of their agreements to arbitrate their 

claims.  The facts surrounding the termination of their agreements are provided to 

provide context to the plethora of unfounded assertions in their Complaint.   
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DMC/Tenet also maintains a robust and comprehensive quality and 

compliance ethics program, which encourages service providers and employees to 

report issues of concern regarding poor quality of care and inappropriate 

interpersonal communications or conduct by directors, physicians, supervisors and 

managers.   

DMC/Tenet policies provide a variety of “pathways” for physicians, staff 

and patients to report incidents of concern.  These pathways are described in part in 

Tenet’s Health Standards of Conduct (referred to in Dkt. #1, ¶¶ 45, 80, 83, et al.).  

(Exhibit I).  The Standards describe a duty to discuss concerns with a non-involved 

manager or through the “ethics action line”, which is a third party operated 

resource for information, guidance, and reporting concerns.  (Exhibit I).  Through 

the various ethics and compliance systems, senior managers at DMC/Tenet 

received many complaints regarding Plaintiffs’ performance of their duties as 

“directors,” their interactions with co-workers and managers, the quality of care 

they provided to patients, and compliance with the “cardiology on-call schedule.”  

These complaints included, without limitation, Plaintiffs’ undisclosed financial 

relationships with medical device vendors, avoiding service to emergent on call 

patients in favor of more lucrative non-emergent pre-scheduled cases contrary to 

their on-call agreements and obligations, and not being present for procedures, they 

were responsible for performing.   
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There were also complaints that Plaintiffs submitted billing for services 

actually performed by less experienced physicians’ services under their name and 

used non-accredited and/or improperly qualified physicians and externs to provide 

cardiac services.  There were also multiple complaints about Plaintiffs’ poor 

interpersonal communications, bullying, yelling, screaming, and other 

inappropriate communications, which could only be described as abuse of co-

workers, staff, and fellow service providers.  When confronted with the allegations, 

Plaintiffs were not forthright; instead, they berated staff members that brought the 

complaints and threatened their jobs and positions.  This behavior was clearly 

inconsistent with DMC/Tenet Standards, as well as generally accepted standards of 

professional behavior.  DMC/Tenet investigated the complaints and confirmed the 

underlying factual basis.  Plaintiffs’ Directorship Agreements were terminated on 

October 1, 2018 due to their failure to follow Tenet’s Standards of Conduct. 

III. ANALYSIS 

 

A. Standard of Review 

 

The Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”) 9 U.S.C. § 1 et. seq. provides for the 

enforcement of arbitration clauses in commercial contracts.  9 U.S.C. § 2.  The 

FAA preempts state law and policies regarding arbitration.  Southland Corp. v. 

Keating, 465 US 1, 10-11, 104 S. Ct. 852 (1984).  When reviewing a motion to 

compel arbitration, the FAA instructs courts to “hear the parties, and upon being 
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satisfied that the making of the agreement for arbitration or the failure to comply 

therewith is not in issue, the court shall make an order directing the parties to 

proceed to arbitration in accordance with the terms of the agreement.”  9 U.S.C. 

§ 4.  The party opposing arbitration “must show a genuine issue of material fact as 

to the validity of the agreement to arbitrate.”  Great Earth Companies, Inc. v. 

Simons, 288 F.3d 878, 889 (6th Cir. 2002) (citing Doctor’s Assocs., Inc. v. Distajo, 

107 F.3d 126, 129–30 (2nd Cir. 1997), cert denied, 522 U.S. 948 (1997)).6  

Under the Federal Arbitration Act (“FAA”), 9 U.S.C. § 1 et seq., a 

written agreement to arbitrate disputes arising out of a contract 

involving interstate commerce “shall be valid, irrevocable, and 

enforceable, save for grounds as exist at law or in equity for the 

revocation of any contract.”  9 U.S.C. § 2.  The Supreme Court has 

held that “any doubts concerning the scope of arbitrable issues should 

be resolved in favor of arbitration,” Moses H. Cone Memorial 

Hospital v. Mercury Construction Corp., 460 U.S. 1, 24-25 (1983), 

and that the party resisting arbitration bears the burden of proving that 

the claims at issue are not suitable for arbitration.  See, Shearson/Am. 

Exp., Inc. v. McMahon, 482 U.S. 220, 227 (1987) (“The burden is on 

the party opposing arbitration . . . to show that Congress intended to 

preclude a waiver of judicial remedies for the statutory rights at 

                                                 
6 Application of the FAA requires one of the parties to the arbitration agreement to 

have a connection to interstate commerce.  Interstate commerce is involved so long 

as some part of the transaction has a nexus to it.  Allied-Bruce Terminix 

Companies, Inc. v. Dobson, 115 S. Ct. 834, 839 (1995)(the FAA’s “involving 

commerce” language signaled “congressional intent to exercise its Commerce 

Clause powers to the full.”).  The business of DMC and Tenet involves interstate 

commerce activity for the procurement of supplies, equipment, medicines and 

receipt of payments.  See, Jones v. Tenet Health Network, Inc., 6.A.D. Cases 1307 

(E.D. La. 1997) (medical center that received services and goods from out-of-state 

vendors, treated out-of-state patients and received payment for services rendered 

from out-of-state insurance carriers was involved in interstate commerce for 

purposes of the FAA). 
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issue.”); Mitsubishi Motors Corp., 473 U.S. 614, 625-26 (1985) 

(recognizing arbitration as an efficacious means for parties to enforce 

their statutory rights).   

 

The Sixth Circuit has ruled that “‘[a]mbiguities in the [arbitration 

agreement] or doubts as to the parties’ intentions should be resolved in favor of 

arbitration.’”  Stout v. J.D. Byrider, 228 F.3d 709, 714 (6th Cir. 2000); See also 

Nestle Waters North America, Inc. v. Bollman, 505 F.3d 498, 503 (6th Cir. 

2007)(“any doubts are to be resolved in favor of arbitration unless it may be said 

with positive assurance that the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an 

interpretation that covers the asserted dispute”).  Against this backdrop of 

undisputable precedent favoring arbitration, the Court’s inquiry in evaluating a 

motion to compel arbitration is “limited.”  Match-E-Be-Nash-He-Wish Band of 

Pottawatomi Indians v. Kean-Argovitz Resorts, 383 F.3d 512, 514 (6th Cir. 2004). 

The Sixth Circuit has held that a court must make the following 

determinations before compelling arbitration: (1) that the parties agreed to 

arbitrate; (2) that the scope of the agreement covers the dispute; (3) that Congress 

intended the claims asserted to be arbitrable; and (4) if only some of the claims are 

arbitrable, whether the court should stay the balance of the proceedings pending 

arbitration.  Stout, supra.  For the reasons discussed in further detail below, the 

Court should dismiss this matter and compel the arbitration of Plaintiff’s claims 

because all four factors are satisfied in the present case. 
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B. Plaintiffs’ Complaint Should be Dismissed and They Should be 

Compelled to Arbitrate the Claims Asserted in this Lawsuit 

1. The agreement to arbitrate is valid and should be enforced 

The Court must first determine whether there is a valid and enforceable 

agreement to arbitrate.  Although the FAA preempts state law regarding 

arbitration, the question whether parties have entered into a valid agreement to 

arbitrate is governed by ordinary state law principles of contract formation.  See 

First Options of Chicago, Inc. v. Kaplan, 514 U.S. 938, 944 (1995).  When 

construing arbitration agreements, courts apply a “presumption that arbitration 

agreements are valid and enforceable.”  Carroll v. Onemain Fin. Inc., No. 14-CV-

14514, 2015 WL 7717132, at *4 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 30, 2015).  “Arbitration 

agreements must be read liberally to effect their purpose” and “[t]he court should 

not deny arbitration of a claim ‘unless it may be said with positive assurance that 

the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that covers the asserted 

dispute.’”  Wiggins v. Superior Woods Healthcare Ctr., Inc., No. 08-14047, 2009 

WL 2849138, at *3 (E.D. Mich. Aug. 28, 2009) (quoting AT&T Techs., Inc. v. 

Commc’ns Workers of Am., 475 U.S. 643, 650 (1986)).  Applying these principles, 

federal courts in Michigan have enforced arbitration agreements executed in the 

context of an employment relationship.  See, e.g., Ramirez v. Bridgestone Retail 

Operations, LLC, No. 12-14480, 2013 WL 1507221 (E.D. Mich. April 12, 2013); 

McGill v. Meijer, Inc., No. 1:10-CV-1055, 2011 WL 1166895 (W.D. Mich. 

Case 2:19-cv-10863-AJT-DRG   ECF No. 11   filed 04/17/19    PageID.96    Page 20 of 29



 

10 

Mar. 28, 2011). 

a. Plaintiffs and Defendant DMC/Tenet agreed to arbitrate 

Here, the arbitration agreement that DMC/Tenet seeks to enforce was 

reduced to writing and signed by both a representative of DMC/Tenet and by 

Plaintiffs.  By signing the agreements, the parties mutually agreed to arbitrate 

“Any dispute or controversy arising under, out of or in connection with, or in 

relation to this agreement, or any amendment hereof, or the breach hereof shall be 

determined and settled by final and binding arbitration . . .” (Exhibits C and D, 

¶ 9.)  The parties’ agreement meets all contractual requirements under Michigan 

law.  As such, it is a valid and enforceable agreement.   

b. The claims asserted are within the scope of the parties’ 

arbitration agreements 

The mutual arbitration agreements set forth in the Parties’ Directorship and 

On Call Agreements are broadly written to encompass, “Any dispute or 

controversy arising under, out of or in connection with, or in relation to this 

Agreement, or any amendment hereof, or the breach hereof…”  It is well-

established that broadly written arbitration clauses must be “taken at their word 

and extend to situations that fall within their purview.”  Ramirez v. Bridgestone 

Retail Operations, LLC, No. 12-14480, 2013 WL 1507221, at *3 (E.D. Mich. April 

12, 2013).  Moreover, the Sixth Circuit has held that in determining the 

arbitrability of the claims, bearing in mind the presumption in favor of arbitrability, 
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“the cornerstone of our inquiry rests upon whether we can resolve the instant case 

without reference to the agreement containing the arbitration clause.”  NCR Corp. 

v. Korala Assocs., 512 F.3d. 807, 814 (2008) (citing Nestle Waters N. Am., Inc. v. 

Bollman, 505 F.3d 498, 505 (6th Cir. 2007).  Here, the Court would be unable to 

resolve the instant case without reference to the directorship and/or on-call 

agreements.7 

Plaintiffs’ Complaint alleges retaliatory termination of their “leadership 

positions” in violation of the False Claims Act (Count I), the Michigan Medicaid 

False Claims Act (Count III), and Michigan public policy (Count IV).  On the face 

of the Complaint, these claims are a controversy clearly arising out of and related 

to the termination of their professional service agreements to provide the director 

services and on-call services that they accuse Defendants of wrongfully 

                                                 
7  The claims against the individual defendants must also be sent to arbitration.  See 

Arnold v. Arnold Corp.-Printed Commc’ns For Bus., 920 F.2d 1269, 1281-82 (6th 

Cir. 1990) (where plaintiff who signed arbitration agreement with corporation sues 

individual officers or employees of that corporation, a nonsignatory defendant is 

entitled to arbitration as an agent of the signatory defendant where his alleged 

wrongful acts relate to his behavior as an officer or director or in his capacity as an 

agent of the corporation).  Put another way, a signatory to an arbitration agreement 

is estopped from avoiding arbitration with a nonsignatory when the issues the 

nonsignatory is seeking to resolve in arbitration are intertwined with the underlying 

contract.  Javitch v. First Union Sec., Inc., 315 F.3d 619, 629 (6th Cir. 2003) 

(citing Thomson-CSF v. Am. Arbitration Ass’n, 64 F.3d 773, 779 (2d Cir. 1995)); 

Southerland v. Corp. Transit of Am., No. 13-14462, 2014 WL 4906891, at *5 (E.D. 

Mich. Sept. 30, 2014) (“Michigan courts recognize alternative estoppel as a basis 

for compelling a signatory to an arbitration agreement to arbitrate disputes with a 

nonsignatory to that agreement.”) 
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terminating.  Such claims are squarely within the scope of the Parties’ arbitration 

agreement.  See Panepucci v. Honigman Miller Schwartz & Cohn LLP, 281 Fed. 

Appx. 482, 486 (6th Cir. 2008)(finding that an arbitration clause covering any 

“controversy or claim arising under or related to [the Partnership] Agreement or its 

interpretation” indicates a broad intention to arbitrate).  “Where the arbitration 

clause is broad, only an express provision excluding a specific dispute, or ‘the most 

forceful evidence of a purpose to exclude the claim from arbitration’ will remove 

the dispute from consideration by the arbitrators.”  Id. 

Likewise, Plaintiffs’ claims for purported “wages” allegedly unpaid in 

violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act (Count II) and withholding of 

“personnel” files in violation of the Bullard-Plawecki Employee Right to Know 

Act (Count VI - Plaintiff Kaki Only) are also claims that arise out of, are related to, 

and/or stem from the purported breach of their written agreements to provide 

directorship and cardiac on call services to DMC/Tenet.8  Likewise, the False Light 

claim (Count V) arises out of publication of purportedly false information 

regarding the reasons for the termination of positions they held pursuant to their 

Agreements, which include the arbitration clauses and spell out the permissible 

                                                 
8   The fact that Plaintiffs contend that they were “defacto” employees (subject to 

the FLSA and Bullard-Plawecki) under their agreements and not independent 

contractors, notwithstanding clear language to the contrary in the agreements, does 

not affect the enforceability of the arbitration provision.  Their status and 

obligations pursuant to the agreements, as well as DMC/Tenet’s obligations are 

issues for an arbitrator to decide. 
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grounds for termination, which DMC/Tenet is being accused of falsely publicizing.   

c. All claims asserted by Plaintiffs are arbitrable 

 With respect to Plaintiffs’ FCA retaliation claims, there is no state or federal 

law exempting FCA retaliation claims from the broad scope and clear policy 

mandate of the FAA.  Nothing in the FCA’s text or legislative history evinces any 

intent by Congress to preclude arbitration of such claims.  When Congress intends 

to preclude the availability of the arbitral forum for statutory whistleblower claims, 

it has expressly done so.9  See also U.S. ex. rel. Schaengold v. Memorial Health, 

Inc., 4:11-CV-58, 2014 WL 7272598, *27 (S.D. GA December 18, 2014)(finding 

“that ‘no congressional intent to preclude arbitration of FCA retaliation claims 

appears in the statute or its legislative history’ and that §3730(h) claims can 

‘adequately be vindicated in … arbital forum[s].’”) 

 Similarly, in Orcutt v. Kettering Radiologists, Inc., 2002 WL 784604 (S.D. 

Ohio Mar. 11, 2002), the court concluded that neither the text of the FCA nor the 

legislative history indicate that Congress intended to exempt Section 3730(h) 

                                                 
9   For example, Congress enacted the Dodd-Frank Act, and amended numerous 

federal whistleblower statutes to add anti-arbitration provisions.  7 U.S.C. 

§ 26(n)(2) (prohibiting arbitration of whistleblower suits under the Commodity 

Exchange Act); 18 U.S.C. § 1514A(e) (prohibiting arbitration of whistleblower 

suits under the Securities and Exchange Act); Id. § 1514A(e)(2) (prohibiting 

arbitration of whistleblower suits under Sarbanes-Oxley); 12 U.S.C. § 5518(b) 

(granting the Consumer Protection Financial Bureau authority to prohibit 

arbitration).  The federal courts have recognized these amendments as an 

expression of “clarity” of Congress’ intent to limit arbitration of federal statutory 

claims.  CompuCredit Corp. v. Greenwood, 132 S. Ct. 665, 672 (2012). 
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retaliation claims from arbitration agreements.10  The Court in Orcutt also 

interpreted “arising out of or relating to . . .” language in the arbitration agreement 

at issue to broadly include all claims contractual or tort which touch on the matters 

covered by the agreement.  Id. at 199 F. Supp. 2d 746, 753.11 

Indeed, federal courts have repeatedly recognized the arbitrability of FCA 

claims and, where those claims were within the scope of an arbitration agreement, 

compelled arbitration.  See, e.g., Deck v. Miami Jacobs Business College Co., No. 

3:12-cv-63, 2013 WL 394875, at *6-7 (S.D. Ohio Jan. 31, 2013) (students’ FCA 

claims fell within scope of an arbitration clause in their enrollment agreements); 

United States ex rel. Hicks v. Evercare Hospital, No. 1:12-cv-887, 2015 WL 

4498744, at *3 (S.D. Ohio July 23, 2015) (nurses’ FCA claims were subject to and 

arbitration policy they signed as a condition of employment); Mikes v. Strauss, 889 

F. Supp. 746, 755 (S.D.N.Y. 1995) (“Since the parties have agreed to arbitrate all 

‘disagreements, claims, questions or controversies which may arise out of or relate 

to [the] Agreement,’ unless otherwise prohibited, under the general federal policy 

                                                 
10  Plaintiffs’ claims mirror this analysis.  Their claims are not qui tam actions but 

are 3730(h) claims that arise out of the purportedly retaliatory termination of their 

professional service agreements – which broadly provide for arbitration of disputes 

arising under or related to said agreements.   
11  Here, as in Orcutt, the arbitration clause is broader than in the unpublished 

opinion in U.S. ex rel. Paige v. BAE Systems, 566 F. App’x 500 (6th Cir. 2014) 

where the parties’ arbitration clause did not contain the “relating to” language. 
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favoring arbitration we must interpret the clause as covering plaintiff’s [FCA 

retaliation] claim”). 

The Courts have also held that claims under the Fair Labor Standards Act 

(FLSA”) may be arbitrated.  See Gaffers v. Kelley Services, 900 F.3d 293 (6th Cir. 

2018); Holt v. City of Battle Creek, 2017 WL 9883345, at *4–5 (W.D. Mich. Feb. 

14, 2017).  Assertions of False Light Invasion of Privacy (False Light) have 

similarly been found to be arbitrable.  See Foxworth v. Radio One, Inc., 2003 WL 

22244073, at *1 (Mich. Ct. App. Sept. 30, 2003); Zamorano v. Wayne State Univ., 

No. 07-12943, 2009 WL 224553, at *13 (E.D. Mich. Jan. 30, 2009).  The courts 

have held claims of Discharge in Violation of Public Policy are subject to 

arbitration.  See Ryoti v. Paine, Webber, Jackson & Curtis, Inc., 142 Mich. App. 

805, 811 (1985).  Civil conspiracy claims have also been determined to be subject 

to an agreement to arbitrate.  Roasting Plant of Michigan JV, LLC v. Roasting 

Plant, Inc., 2018 WL 5885508, at *5 (E.D. Mich. Nov. 9, 2018).   

All causes of action, Plaintiffs have asserted, have been found subject to 

arbitration.  Nothing about Plaintiffs’ Complaint should prevent this Court from 

compelling Plaintiffs to submit all their claims to arbitration. 

2. The parties’ arbitration agreements provide that the 

arbitrator is to determine whether the mutual agreement is 

valid and enforceable 

 

To the extent there is any question as to the effect or scope of the Plaintiffs 
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agreement to arbitrate, it should be decided by the arbitrator.  The contracts at issue 

require the arbitrator to decide issues of jurisdiction and arbitrability.  The 

arbitration clauses of the contracts incorporate the JAMS Commercial Arbitration 

rules.  (Exhibits C and D, ¶ 9; Exhibits E and F, ¶ 11).  Rule 11 of those Rules 

states in part: 

(a) Once appointed, the Arbitrator shall resolve disputes about the 

interpretation and applicability of these Rules and conduct of the 

Arbitration Hearing.  The resolution of the issue by the Arbitrator 

shall be final. 

 

(b) Jurisdictional and arbitrability disputes, including disputes over 

the formation, existence, validity, interpretation or scope of the 

agreement under which Arbitration is sought, and who are proper 

Parties to the Arbitration, shall be submitted to and ruled on by the 

Arbitrator.  Unless the relevant law requires otherwise, the Arbitrator 

has the authority to determine jurisdiction and arbitrability issues as a 

preliminary matter. 

 

(Exhibit J) (emphasis added) 

The Sixth Circuit has held that “if the parties clearly and unmistakably 

submit the issue [of arbitrability] to the arbitrator without reservation, then the 

parties have waived their right to have a court make the decision.”  Cleveland 

Electric Illuminating Co. v. Utility Workers Union, Local 270, 440 F.3d 809, 813 

(6th Cir. 2006).  See also, Rent-A-Center West, Inc. v. Jackson, 561 U.S. 63, 68-69 

(2010) (“parties can agree to arbitrate ‘gateway’ questions of ‘arbitrability,’ such 

as whether the parties have agreed to arbitrate or whether their agreement covers a 

particular controversy.”); Fallo v. High-Tech Institute, 559 F.3d 874, 877 (8th Cir. 
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2009) (holding that an arbitration agreement’s incorporation of AAA rules 

requiring arbitrator to decide the threshold issue of arbitrability was a clear and 

unmistakable intent to arbitrate the question of arbitrability). 

Accordingly, the Court should order the parties to proceed to arbitration on 

any threshold issue(s) as to whether their mutual arbitration agreement is valid and 

enforceable and whether the claims asserted herein are within the scope of the 

agreement. 

C. As the Only Claims Asserted in this Action are Subject to 

Mandatory Arbitration, Dismissal is the Appropriate Remedy 

 This Court has observed that the practice of courts in this Circuit is to 

dismiss a case where the court has determined that all claims are properly 

adjudicated by arbitration, and this Court follows that practice: 

The Sixth Circuit, like several other circuits, has authorized dismissal 

of actions where all claims are referable to arbitration and retaining 

jurisdiction would thus serve no purpose.  Ozormoor v. TMobile USA, 

Inc., 354 F. App’x 972, 975 (6th Cir. 2009); Sellers v. Macy’s Retail 

Holdings, Inc., No. 12–02496, 2014 WL 2826119, at *10 (W.D. Tenn. 

June 23, 2014) (citing cases from 4th, 5th, 6th, and 9th Circuits, as 

well as cases from within 6th Circuit).  All of the claims in this case 

are referable to arbitration.  The Court will therefore follow the 

practice of courts within this Circuit and dismiss the case without 

prejudice.  Southerland, 2014 WL 4906891, at *11.   

 

Because all claims brought in this lawsuit are subject to arbitration, DMC/Tenet 

asks the Court to dismiss the case without prejudice. 
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IV. CONCLUSION 

Although Plaintiffs agreed to arbitrate any claims arising out of their 

professional service agreement with DMC/Tenet, they filed their claims in federal 

court, thereby circumventing the arbitration provisions of the professional service 

agreements they claim were improperly terminated.  The clear terms of the 

contracts, the statutory requirements of the FAA, and the policy long upheld by 

this Court requires this case be dismissed and the Court to compel Plaintiffs to 

arbitrate their claims as they agreed.  
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